## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO: 2009-TS-01614-SCT

**DAVID PAUL ANDERSON** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

ON APPEAL FROM THE
CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISION COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
CRIMINAL ACTION NO. 2401-2007-0838

LEILANI LEITH HILL (MSB# DENHAM LAW FIRM, PLLC 424 Washington Avenue Post Office Drawer 580 Ocean Springs, MS 39566-0580 228.875.1234 Telephone 228.875,4553 Facsimile

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO: 2009-TS-01614-SCT

DAVID PAUL ANDERSON

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a psychological examination to determine whether or not the appellant was suffering from a disease or defect that rendered him legally insane or incompetent to stand trial and for trial counsel's general errors/omissions.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in allowing the introduction of hearsay testimony pursuant to the tender years exception.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in allowing the State to lead the victim.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to exclude the testimony of Dr. Donald Matherne.
- 5. Whether the trial court erred in failing to quash Count I of the indictment.
- 6. Whether the evidence was insufficient to support Counts I and II of the indictment.
- 7. Whether the State violated the Golden Rule during closing arguments.
- 8. Whether the State violated the Appellant's right to remain silent during closing arguments.
- 9. Whether the Court erred by failing to submit the only defense exhibit to the jury.
- 10. Whether the cumulative effect of all the errors in the trial denied the Appellant, David Paul Anderson a fair trial.
- 11. Whether the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below:

The Defendant, David Paul Anderson, on or about the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of October, 2007, was charged by indictment in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi (First Judicial District), with two counts of Statutory Rape, in violation of Section 97-3-65(1)(b), Miss. Code of 1972, as amended, and one court of Sexual Battery, in violation

of Section 97-3-95(2), Miss. Code of 1972, as amended. R.E. at 12. The indictment alleged that the incidents occurred on or about November, 2006, November 25, 2006, and December 2, 2006, respectively. R.E. at 12. Numerous motions were filed by the Defendant's counsel and the State of Mississippi, and were heard June 10, 2009, June 17, 2009, June 22, 2009. R. at 2-36, 38-53, 55-139, and 141-258. This case was tried before the Honorable Lisa P. Dodson, over a period of two days, June 22 and June 23, 2009. The jury retired and returned a verdict of guilty as to each count of the indictment, R. at 561: R.E. at 7. The trial court ordered that a pre-sentence report be completed and continued the sentencing to July 13, 2009. R. at 561; see also R.E. at 15. At the Sentencing hearing it is important to note that substantial evidence was admitted that called into question the Defendant's competence and mental capacity. R. at 578. In fact upon hearing the testimony the trial court ordered that the Defendant be tested both mentally and physically and receive any treatment necessary. R.E. at 9. Following the sentencing hearing the trial court sentenced the Defendant to serve a term of Life in Count I, Life in Count II, and thirty years (30) in Count III. R. at 608; see also R.E. at 9. On or about the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of September, 2009, the Court considered the Defendant's Motion for J.N.O.V. or in the alternative for a new trial. R. at 612. Upon hearing argument the trial court denied the Defendant's Motion. R. at 616-620; see also R.E. at 11.

### B. Statement of the Facts:

The Appellant, David Paul Anderson, was charged by indictment with two counts of statutory rape and one count of sexual battery, with his biological daughter, A.N.A.<sup>1</sup>, who was eleven at the time of the alleged incidents. R. at 445. The alleged crimes were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Due to the age of the victim and the sensitive nature of the crime, the Appellant is referring to the victim by her initials A.N.A..

reported to the Gulfport police department by Denise Boller, the Appellant's sister, who reported that on or about December 2, 2006, she entered the home of David Paul Anderson to retrieve a purse for her sister, Rhonda Anderson, and upon entering the home she observed Mr. Anderson in his bedroom engaged in sexual intercourse with A.N.A., R. at 405-406, 410. Mrs. Boller testified at trial, that she moved back from the doorway to the room and announced her presence in the home, retrieved A.N.A. and went back to her residence. R. at 407. Boller then stated that she questioned A.N.A. and that A.N.A. reported that this had been going on for quite some time. R. at 408. It is important to note that after allegedly walking in and observing her brother engaged in sexual intercourse with her eleven year old niece that Denise Boller, and the Appellant's other sister, Rhonda Anderson, waited approximately one month to report the incident to the police department. R. at 410. Denise Boller, didn't attempt to stop this horrific act, she merely backed out of the room and called her brother's name in an effort to interrupt him without calling attention to the fact that she had observed what was occurring. R. at 414. Neither sister called the police, took A.N.A. to the emergency room or the pediatrician, or reported this incident to the Mississippi Department of Human Services. R. at 415-416. This fact is startling considering that nature of the allegations and the fact that Rhonda Anderson is an assistant teacher, a mandatory reporter pursuant to statute, and fully aware of the reporting requirements. R at. 427.

The victim A.N.A., who was fourteen at the time of trial, testified via closed circuit television. R. at 342. After substantial leading from the State, A.N.A. testified that on December 2, 2006, David Anderson, her biological father, put his private in her private. R. at 346. The victim further testified, over the objection of defense counsel, that "it" had happened a lot. R at. 348. In order to attempt to introduce evidence to

support Counts I and II of the indictment with a victim who clearly could not recall dates, the Assistant District Attorney while pointing to a calendar basically testified himself as to the facts surrounding Counts I and II of the indictment, specifically the dates, which had been contested by defense counsel during trial and at pre-trial proceedings. R at 350-353.

The State called Anthony Clarite, an officer with the Gulfport Police Department, who testified concerning his forensic interview with the victim. R at 438. Officer Clarite interviewed the victim approximately one month after the alleged December, 2006, incident. R at. 446. Officer Clarite discussed his training and interview techniques using the Findings Words Protocol<sup>2</sup>, which implements the use of open ended non leading questions which are of utmost importance when interviewing children. R at 437-439. It is important to note that during this interview in which the victim was not lead (unlike during the course of her testimony at trial), A.N.A. related one incident, not three as presented at trial. R at. 446. Furthermore, Clarite testified that the victim told him that all of her allegations occurred on the same day. R. at 446.

Perhaps the most troubling hearsay testimony at the trial of the instant matter was that from Dr. J. Donald Matherne, who was qualified as an expert in the field of clinical psychology and child sexual abuse, despite his testimony that he no longer sees patients and that he no longer receives training in the area of sexual abuse as that is one of the areas that he has moved away from. R. at 467. Dr. Matherne testified that he has developed his own protocol over the years to interview children, and that his technique cannot be found in any publication, nor has it been peer reviewed. R. at 474-475.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A person trained in the Finding Words Protocol is generally advised not to interview a child multiple times as this further traumatizes the child and also increases the potential for the child to fabricate or provide inconsistent statements. The Finding Words Protocol takes into account pertinent research, http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/finding words 2003.pdf.

Despite defense counsel's vehement objections to Dr. Matherne being qualified as an expert and being allowed to proffer hearsay testimony, his testimony was allowed. R. at 479-480.

Dr. Matherne testified that he interviewed the victim on January 10, 2007, again approximately thirty days following the alleged incident and subsequent to Anthony Clarite's interview. R. at 480. Dr. Matherne was also permitted to testify using his "fist technique" another self developed technique that he uses to determine whether or not there has been penetration and whether or not a child needs a medical exam. R. at 495. Although Dr. Matherne testified that A.N.A. told him that "it had happened more than one time" the only events that she relayed to him were that of the December 2006 incident. R at. 502-503. A.N.A. consistent with her statements to the other witnesses never provided any other dates, and more particularly never mentioned November 24 or 25, 2006, until the prosecutor lead her through her testimony at trial. *Id*.

The Defense, called Mr. Anderson's brother, Sam Anderson, to testify at trial. Sam Anderson testified that he specifically recalled Thanksgiving 2006, and that on the 25<sup>th</sup> day of November, 2006, he was present on the family farm with David and A.N.A. R. at 518. Sam Anderson testified that he and David worked on the tractor and that A.N.A. was present the entire time and played while the brothers worked. R. at 520. Sam Anderson further testified that A.N.A. was joyful and happy that day. R. at 522. Sam Anderson stated that David and A.N.A. left the farm before he did and that he closed and locked the gate as he left the property. R. at 521. Sam Anderson also testified that he was with David Anderson the entire time they were at the farm and that David and A.N.A. never went off together by themselves. R. at 522.

Of startling concern is the fact that the Defenses only exhibit<sup>3</sup> went missing from the jury room and there is not a clear record of whether or not all of the jurors had the opportunity to view the exhibit. R. at 567. The trial court announced the morning after the jury returned its verdict, that Exhibit D-1 could not be found and that the bailiff and the court reporter and the court administrator searched the jury rooms thoroughly and that the exhibit could not be found. R. at 567. The foreman of the jury was contacted and he advised that he could not remember seeing it or what had happened to it. R. at 568. The trial court after conferring with both State and Defense counsel had the court reporter contact all of the jurors and inquire as to whether or not they recalled seeing the document. *Id.* About half the jurors advised that they had seen the drawing, however, half could not recall one way or the other. *Id.* The Exhibit never surfaced.

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant, David Paul Anderson, submits that the lower court committed numerous errors which warrant reversal of his conviction for two counts of statutory rape and one count of sexual battery. The most startling error in during the trial of the instant matter surrounds defense counsel's failure to request a psychological examination of the Appellant despite a plethora of information concerning both the defendant's lack of competency and lack of ability to understand right from wrong. R. at 563-593. If defense counsel would have requested a psychological examination the results at trial would have been substantially different. First, if it was determined that the Appellant was not competent then this case would have never been tried. The Appellant would have been remanded to the Mississippi State Hospital to determine if he could be restored to competency and would have at a minimum been afforded the right to be heard at an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Exhibit was a drawing of the floor plan of the home that Mr. Thompson asked Ashley to make in the course of her testimony. R. at 567.

evidentiary hearing. Second, if the Appellant was determined through a psychological examination not to understand the difference between right and wrong then he would have been afforded a defense that was not presented to the jury. There is no way to determine what the outcome at trial would have been if such a defense was presented.

The trial court also erred in allowing hearsay testimony to be introduced pursuant to the tender years exception. At the time of trial the victim was fourteen years old and no longer of tender years. R. at 343. Furthermore, the victim was allowed to testify via closed circuit television further removing the necessity for hearsay testimony. R at. 342. The testimony permitted by the trial court only served to bolster the testimony of the victim and did not aid the trier of fact. The court also erred in allowing the expert testimony of Dr. Matherne. Dr. Matherne should not have been allowed to testify specifically in reference to his "Fist Technique" as his testimony did not meet the requirements of Mississippi Rules of Evidence, Rule 702, or the standards enumerated by the United States Supreme Court in *Daubert*. Dr. Matherne's testimony was not based on sufficient facts or data, the product of reliable principles and methods, or applied reliably to the facts of this case and his testimony was in manifest error.

The trial court also erred in allowing the State to lead the victim. During the trial of this matter the issue of the dates for Counts I and II of the indictment, and the sufficiency of the evidence supporting said counts, were contested by the defense. R. at 13. Indeed the defense argued that Count I of the indictment should have been quashed as the defense was not provided enough information to prepare an adequate defense. It was not until trial that the victim provided two specific dates to support Counts I and II and only after being lead by the State. R. at 18. The State being permitted to lead A.N.A., in essence allowed the prosecutor to spoon feed the victim dates to support

Counts I and II of the indictment when the victim was previously unable to do so. Allowing introduction of evidence in this manner also resulted in a manifest injustice and reversible error. The trial court erred in failing to Quash Count I of the indictment due to insufficiency of the indictment and the evidence submitted at trial was not sufficient to support a conviction as to Counts I and II of the indictment.

The trial court also erred in failing to declare a mistrial when the prosecutor committed reversible error during closing argument when he violated both the golden rule and the Appellant's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent.

The failure of the Court to ensure that the defense's only exhibit was sent to the jury room for deliberation was also reversible error.

Finally, the cumulative effect of the many and various errors during trial denied the Appellant a fair trial and the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

### IV. ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE 1

#### INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and its counterpart in the Mississippi Constitution guarantees the assistance of counsel to frame a defense for the accused in all criminal proceedings. *U.S. Constitution. Amend. VI.* The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that counsel is presumed to be competent. *Jackson v. State*, 476 So.2d 1195, 12004 (Miss. 1985). However, there is no Constitutional guarantee of error free counsel. *Cabello v. State*, 524 So.2d 313, 315 (Miss. 1988) (citing *Johnson v State*, 511 So.2d 1333, 1340 (Miss. 1987)).

In Strickland v. Washington, the United States Supreme Court outlined a twoprong test for ineffective assistance of counsel: first, the one claiming ineffective
assistance of counsel must show the errors or omissions in the performance of counsel;
second the claimant must show that such errors or omissions by counsel prejudiced the
defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). This Court has held that
the first prong of Strickland is satisfied as long as the attorney's representation is within
the "broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance." Stringer v. State, 627 So.2d
326, 329 (Miss. 1993). This Court has further held that the second prong of Strickland
mandates a showing by the defendant that "but for" the errors or commissions of counsel,
there is a "reasonable probability" that a different outcome of the criminal action would
have occurred. Mohr v. State, 584 So.2d 426, 430 (Miss. 1991). Necessarily, if either of
the Strickland inquiries fail, then the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel also
fails. Foster v. State, 687 So.2d 1124, 1130 (Miss. 1996).

In the matter giving rise to the instant appeal, Mr. Anderson's trial counsel was seriously deficient. The deficiency fell into two categories: failure of counsel to obtain or even move for a psychological evaluation to ascertain fitness to stand trial, or, the existence of an insanity or competence defense as to guilt,<sup>4</sup> and general errors and omissions such that Mr. Anderson was prejudiced.

### A. Failure to obtain psychological examination

Miss. Code Ann. §99-13-11 provides that "in any criminal action in the circuit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The undersigned filed a Motion for Psychological Examination with this Court on February 26, 2010, addressing specific concerns with Mr. Anderson's competency, more particularly with his capacity to confer with counsel, to understand the proceedings against him, to assist counsel, to appreciate the criminality of the charges, to understand and knowingly and intelligently waive or assert his rights, and whether he was suffering from a mental illness at the time of the alleged acts such that he is unable to understand right from wrong. These concerns were addressed to both the Appellant's competency at the appellate level and at the trial level.

court in which the mental condition of a person indicted for a felony is in question, the court or judge in vacation on motion duly made by the defendant, the district attorney or the motion of the court or judge, may order such person to submit to a mental examination by a competent psychiatrist or psychologist selected by the court to determine his ability to make a defense..." Furthermore Rule 9.06 of the Mississippi Uniform Rules of County and Circuit Court provides that "if before or during trial the court, of its own motion or upon motion of an attorney, has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is incompetent to stand trial, the court shall order the defendant to submit to a mental examination by some competent psychiatrist selected by the court..."

The United States Supreme Court has defined competency to stand trial as "whether [a defendant] has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding ... and whether he has a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him." *Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402, 402, 80 S.Ct. 788, 4 L.Ed.2d 824, 825 (1960) (per curiam); *Pate v. Robinson*, 383 U.S. 375, 86 S.Ct. 836(1966); See also *Jay v. State*, 25 So.2d 257, 261 (Miss. 2009). This Court has further held that in order to be deemed competent to stand trial, a defendant must be: (1) who is able to perceive and understand the nature of the proceedings; (2) who is able to rationally communicate with his attorney about the case; (3) who is able to recall relevant facts; (4) who is able to testify in his own defense if appropriate; and (5) whose ability to satisfy the foregoing criteria is commensurate with the severity of the case. *Martin v. State*, 871 So.2d 693, 697 (Miss.2004) (quoting *Howard v. State*, 701 So.2d 274, 280 (Miss.1997) (overruled on other grounds)).

With respect to insanity it must be proved that at the time of committing the act the defendant "was laboring under such defect of reason from disease of the mind as (1)

not to know the nature and quality of the act he was doing or (2) if he did know it, that he did not know that what he was doing was wrong. *Woodham v. State*, 800 So.2d 1148, 1158 (Miss. 2001).

In the instant matter the record is replete with examples concerning Mr. Anderson's mental retardation and other mental disabilities, however, no motion was ever filed or presented to the trial court requesting a psychiatric examination, or addressing Mr. Anderson's mental retardation until after the jury had return a verdict of guilt and Mr. Anderson was before the trial court for sentencing. In fact Mr. Anderson's counsel had the following exchange with the trial court:

Court: Are you prepared to go forward on sentencing, state?

Mr. Gargiulo: Yes, ma'am

Court: Defense?

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