#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**DAVID PAUL ANDERSON** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1614-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR N

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

###

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

T.

THE ISSUE OF DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCY WAS NOT RAISED PRE-TRIAL AND WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The issue of defendant's sanity and competency was never raised before the trial court pre-trial or during trial. There was some mention during sentencing. Such is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Alternatively, the remedy is remand to the trial court for a nunc pro tunc competency hearing.

#### Issue II.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE TENDER EXCEPTION RULE IN THIS CASE.

The trial court followed the correct law and applied it correctly to the case.

#### Issue III.

THE STATE DID NOT ASK IMPROPER LEADING QUESTIONS. The questions were not leading but open-ended.

#### Issue IV.

THE TRIAL COURT CONDUCTED A 'DAUBERT HEARING' AND PROPERLY APPLIED THE LAW IN ALLOWING THE EXPERT TESTIMONY.

The Daubert analysis is flexible and tends toward admission.

#### Issue V.

THE INDICTMENT WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT AS TO COUNT I TO SURVIVE THE MOTION TO QUASH.

A date range of one month for one count is legally sufficient to charge statutory rape.

#### Issue VI.

THERE WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY VERDICTS IN COUNT I & II OF THE INDICTMENT. The trial court ruled there was legally sufficient evidence as to Counts I & II to submit the issue to the jury.

#### Issue VII.

TRIAL COUNSEL FOR DEFENSE OBJECTED DURING CLOSING WHICH WAS SUSTAINED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

A comment by the prosecution during closing which objected and sustained is not error.

#### Issue VIII.

THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT MAKE A COMMENT ON DEFENDANT RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

The prosecution commented on the defense argument or lack of argument.

#### Issue IX.

THE MISSING EXHIBIT IS NOT GROUNDS FOR REMAND. Trial courts should not be held in error for a misplaced exhibit which went to the jury and then disappeared.

#### Issue X.

THERE IS NO 'CUMULATIVE ERROR'.

Defendant had a fundamentally fair trial

#### Issue XI.

THERE IS AMPLE CREDIBLE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE JURY VERDICTS OF GUILTY OF TWO COUNTS OF STATUTORY RAPE AND SEXUAL BATTERY.

While there were inconsistencies in the testimony such were for the jury to decide. There was evidence to support all the elements of all three charges.

#### ARGUMENT

I.

THE ISSUE OF DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCY WAS NOT RAISED PRE-TRIAL AND WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

In this first allegation of error defendant seeks remand for retrial claiming trial counsel was ineffective for not raising defendant's 'competency' and 'sanity' at trial. Specifically, now on appeal, appellate counsel points to evidence ascertained and contained in the record from the pre-sentence investigation.

The Mississippi Supreme court has held where the record lacks evidence of incompetence it was not held to be ineffective assistance of counsel:

¶ 44. Parker also argues that his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to raise the issue of competency at trial. The record is devoid of any evidence to show that the trial court had reasonable grounds to order a mental examination pursuant to Mississippi Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 9.06. Because the record lacks any evidence that would suggest Parker was incompetent, we cannot conclude that Parker's counsel acted ineffectively under this assignment of error. See Jordan v. State, 995 So.2d 94, 110 (Miss.2008) (citing Conley v. State, 790 So.2d 773, 784 (Miss.2001)); Miss. R.App. P. 28(a)(6).

Parker v. State, 30 So.3d 1222 (Miss. 2010).

As the Mississippi Supreme Court has also held, "...The pertinent question is whether "the trial judge receive[d] information which, objectively considered, should reasonably have raised a doubt about defendant's competence and alerted him to the

possibility that the defendant could neither understand the proceedings, appreciate their significance, nor rationally aid his attorney in his defense?" *Goff v. State*, 14 So.3d 625, 644 (Miss. 2009).

It would appear, by negative reference, that nothing in the record, or in appearances before the court raised the question of either defendant's sanity or competency. Consequently, the trial court should not be put in error for what was not observed or brought to the Court's attention.

The State would ask that no relief be granted. Alternatively, if this Court finds error, the State would ask for the relief of remand for a *nunc pro tunc* competency hearing. *Miller-El v. Johnson*, 261 F.3d 445, 453 (C.A.5 (Tex.) 2001) under the rationale of *Conner v. Wingo*, 429 F.2d 630, 639-640 (C.A.Ky. 1970). The federal courts have held that such *nunc pro tunc* determinations are Constitutionally valid.

Accordingly, the State would assert trial counsel was not ineffective in raising insanity or competency issues at the trial court, or alternatively, as remedy remand for a *nunc pro tunc* competency determination.

Additionally appellate counsel also asserts ineffective assistance by:

- 1) waiving defendant's presence at pre-trial hearings,
- 2) waiving in-court identification by victim,
- 3) waiving defendant's right to testify at trial.

Looking at the last claim first, the record is replete with a lengthy exchange between the trial judge, defendant, and counsel specifically regarding defendant and the exercise of his right to testify. Tr. 510-515. With such a record it is the position of the State there is no deficient performance. See, *Le v. State*, 913 So.2d 913, (¶137) (Miss. 2005).

As to the claims of defendant's waiver to being present at pre-trial hearings and the stipulation that the victim identified the defendant are within the gambit of trial strategy.

¶ 8. The standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is the familiar two-part test articulated by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984): the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was defective and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. This review is highly deferential to the attorney, and there is a strong presumption that the attorney's conduct fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Hiter v. State, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss.1995). With respect to the overall performance of the attorney, "counsel's failure to file certain motions, call certain witnesses, ask certain questions, or make certain objections fall within the ambit of trial strategy" and do not give rise to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

Pruitt v. State, 807 So.2d 1236 (Miss. 2002).

Consequently, it is the position of the State defendant had constitutionally effective assistance of counsel.

## Issue II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE TENDER EXCEPTION RULE IN THIS CASE.

In this next allegation error counsel avers the trial court erred in the admission of hearsay testimony as to statements of the young victim.

Looking to the record a separate pre-trial hearing was held. (Tr. 142, et seq). The trial court heard testimony and argument of counsel. After which the judge made extensive on the record findings of fact and conclusions of law. (Tr. 235-248).

Specifically hold that at the time of some of the statements the child was eleven or twelve years old. (Tr. 239-240)(as to Det. Clarite & Ms. Boller). As to Dr. Matherne, the trial judge found his testimony admissible as an expert (MRE 702)(Tr. 235) and as statements made by the victim for medical purposes and treatment (Tr. 246-47).

The trial court correctly applied the following cases in her analysis of the tender years exception question: *Elkins v. State*, 918 So.2d 828 (Miss.App. 2005); *Davis v. State*, 878 So.2d 1020 (Miss.App. 2004); *Byars v. State*, 835 So.2d 965 (Miss.App. 2003); *Lawler v. State*, 770 So. 2d 586 (Miss. 2000); and, *Veasley v. State*, 735 So. 2d 432 (Miss. 1999).

The trial court limited the witnesses the State could have and the defense was aware well before trial as to who they would be. Tr.248.

It is the succinct position of the State the trial court meticulously applied the correct law to the facts and no error was committed.

No relief should be granted based upon this allegation of error.

#### Issue III.

## THE STATE DID NOT ASK IMPROPER LEADING QUESTIONS.

Next defendant asserts the trial court erred in allowing the State to lead the witness. Specifically an exchange that takes place at page 393 in the transcript.

First of all, the State would point out this exchange was on re-direct and the question asked: "Did anytime before Thanksgiving did your dad have sex with you, and when I say before I mean...." [Objection made, not as leading, but improper redirect, which was overruled] — "Ashley, did your dave have sex with you anytime before Thanksgiving in that month? And you don't have to point to a day, just did he. I'm asking you if he did." (Tr. 393).

¶ 33. Brown further argues that the State was allowed to improperly bolster Watts's testimony by asking multiple leading questions throughout redirect. She cites McDavid v. State, 594 So.2d 12, 16-17 (Miss.1992) for the proposition that allowing repeated leading questions on material issues is reversible error. However, our supreme court has stated that, "trial courts are given great discretion in permitting the use of such questions, and unless there has been a manifest abuse of discretion resulting in injury to the complaining party, we will not reverse the decision." Whitlock v. State, 419 So.2d 200, 203 (Miss.1982). We do not believe that allowing the State to ask leading questions regarding Watts's written statement caused any harm to Brown. As previously stated, the statement had already been admitted into evidence, and the State's line of questioning only verified whether the contents of that document were in fact correct.

Brown v. State, 981 So.2d 1007, 1017 (Miss.App. 2007)(emphasis added).

The question as asked is arguably not even leading ... it was open ended.

Further it helped elicit and clarify events that were questioned during cross-examination as to specific dates or just one date. Such questioning for the limited purpose on re-direct was not improper and the judge did not abuse discretion in overruling the objection whether it be improper redirect *or* leading questions.

No relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

#### Issue IV.

# THE TRIAL COURT CONDUCTED A 'DAUBERT HEARING' AND PROPERLY APPLIED THE LAW IN ALLOWING THE EXPERT TESTIMONY.

This claim of error seeks to challenge the ruling of the trial court in allowing the expert testimony of Dr. Matherne.

As counsel has pointed out and the trial court applied:

¶ 62. In McLemore, this Court adopted the "Daubert/Kumho" rule-in other words, the U.S. Supreme Court's standard set forth in Daubert, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786, and Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 119 S.Ct. 1167, 143 L.Ed.2d 238 (1999)-as the standard for assessing the reliability and admissibility of expert testimony. McLemore, 863 So.2d at 35.

Gillett v. State, 2010 WL 2609432 (¶¶62-66)(Miss. 2010)(decided July 1, 2010).

A "Daubert Hearing" was conducted pretrial. (Tr. 176-226.) Applying the rartionale of "Dauber/Kumho" the trial judge made extensive on the record findings of fact and conclusions of law. (Tr. 235-239.) It is apparent the court was familiar with the requirements and flexibility allowed in the application of the law to the particular facts in this case.

As the Mississippi Supreme court recently reiterated in *Gillett*, the analysis is flexible and allows for admission with possible limitation by instruction or testimony. Further, as to the claim that Dr. Matherne's diagnostic technique he uses with patients,—known as the "fist technique"—standing alone, does not satisfy "Daubert."

The trial court addressed this specific claim as had been previously addressed by the Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi, holding:

¶ 10. We agree with the trial court that the "fist technique" referred to by Dr. Matherne was only a form of information gathering. In his testimony, Dr. Matherne testified that the "fist technique" is a demonstration in which he asks a child to make a fist with one hand, to assume that the fist represents her private area, and to use a finger of the other hand to demonstrate what type of contact was made to her private area. He explained that he uses this procedure to assist in making a determination as to whether a physical examination of the child will be of any benefit. He testified that it was important to know whether digital penetration occurred and, if so, how deeply. He further explained that if the penetration was slight, a physical examination would not necessarily detect any trauma. We find nothing improper with the trial judge's decision to allow this testimony. This issue is without merit.

Davis v. State, 878 So.2d 1020, 1024 (Miss.App. 2004).

Accordingly, the trial judge did the proper analysis and correctly applied it to the facts of this case. No relief should be granted based on this claim of error.

# Issue V. THE INDICTMENT WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT AS TO COUNT I TO SURVIVE THE MOTION TO QUASH.

This issues goes to the indictment and the specific claim that Count I was vague for having a date 'range' for the offense of 'November, 2006.' Count II, had a specific date – November 25, 2006.

This issue was heard by the court in separate pre-trial hearings. Tr. 12-24 & Tr. 39-48. The ultimate decision by the judge being the range of dates and with the State being limited to statements that were in discovery, were sufficient to support Count I.

This ruling by the trial court is consistent with prior cases and found to be legally sufficient. *Price v. State*, 898 So.2d 641, 654 (Miss. 2005).

Therefore, there being sufficient facts alleged in the indictment the trial court was correct in denying the pre-trial motion to quash Count I of the indictment for lack of a more specific date.

#### Issue VI.

# THERE WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY VERDICTS IN COUNT I & II OF THE INDICTMENT.

Counts I & II, were both statutory rape charges. Defendant asserts there was legally insufficient evidence to support the charges.

This question was presented to the trial court after the State rested. The trial judge made specific findings as to the testimony being legally sufficient as to each offense. Tr. 507-510. The trial court found the evidence to be legally sufficient at that point.

During the defense case-in-chief one witness testified, which defendant now offers up as evidence challenging the legal sufficiency of the evidence.

However, such recitation of contradictory testimony does not go to the sufficiency of the evidence but to the weight and credibility of the evidence.

The State will rely upon the ruling of the trial court at the close of the State's case in chief on the sufficiency of the evidence on Counts I & II (statutory rape).

¶ 26. In Price, Price argued that his conviction should be reversed because of inconsistencies in the victim's statements to family members and investigators. Price, 898 So.2d at 651(¶23). The victim had, during two separate interviews with her DHS social worker, insisted that Price had not touched her in any inappropriate way. Id. at 646(¶6). Price further argued that the State had presented no corroborating medical or physical evidence to support the statutory rape charges against him. Id. The supreme court held that "the unsubstantiated and uncorroborated testimony of a victim is sufficient to support a guilty verdict if that

testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other credible evidence, especially if the conduct of the victim is consistent with conduct of one who has been victimized by a sex crime." Id. at  $651(\P 23)$  (citations omitted). The supreme court further held that any questions regarding the credibility of the victim's testimony were to be resolved by the jury. Id. at  $652(\P 25)$  (citing *Schuck v. State*, 865 So.2d 1111, 1124( $\P 37$ ) (Miss.2003)).

Stevenson v. State, 13 So.3d 314, 319 (Miss.App. 2008).

It is the position of the State there was legally sufficient evidence as to each element of statutory rape in Counts I & II of the indictment to present to the jury. Additionally the defense evidence, with regards to only one of the counts was a question for the jury to decide.

No relief should be granted on this claim of error.

#### Issue VII.

### TRIAL COUNSEL FOR DEFENSE OBJECTED DURING CLOSING WHICH WAS SUSTAINED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

During the State's final closing counsel for the State, for reasons unknown, drifted a bit and was trying to make a connection to some of the questioning that had transpired during jury selection and voir dire. Tr. 557. Counsel for defendant objected and the trial judge sustained the objection. Tr. 557. There were no further objections.

The law is clear in Mississippi:

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